FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/29/2022 4:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 82918-1-I Supreme Court No. <u>101582-8</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In The Matter of the Dependency of G.M.W.

Motion for Discretionary Review treated as a Petition for Review

Kate L. Benward Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 katebenward@washapp.org

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW3
	STATEMENT OF THE CASE6
_,	1. The court places G.M.W., a native child, into
	foster care in Mr. W.'s absence and without
	appointing him an attorney6
	cappointed and concerned and c
	2. The Department social worker leaves a copy of
	the dependency petition with G.M.W.'s mother but
	not Mr. W9
	3. Mr. W. does not appear at the dependency fact-
	finding, and the Department moves for and is
	granted a default judgment11
	4. Four months into the dependency, Mr. W. is
	finally appointed counsel and moves to vacate the
	default dependency order for improper service,
	which the court denies14
	5. The Court of Appeals issues a fractured,
	published decision that disagrees about personal
	service requirements in a dependency and active
	efforts under ICWA and WIWCA15
	6. The Court of Appeals also interprets ICWA and
	WIWCA to impose barriers to the appointment of
	counsel that the statute's plain language does not
	require

Ε.	ARGUMENT19
	1. The majority decision upends the requirements of the service statutes by
	allowing one parent to control the other
	parent's notice about their legal rights to their child19
	Cilia 19
	a. The majority's opinion conflicts with the service statutes, court rules, and case law, all of which prohibit one party from serving the
	other19
	b. The majority also wrongly construes the dependency statute's requirement of "personal service" to include "substitute service."23
	2. Undermining ICWA and WIWCA's protections, the Court of Appeals imposes barriers to the appointment of counsel that the statute's plain language does not require.
	3. The majority's conclusion that the
	Department exerted active efforts based on what the Department did <i>after</i> the default dependency order and absent evidence of direct engagement with Mr. W. conflicts with this Court's requirements for active efforts30
F	CONCLUSION 33

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Decisions
In re Dependency of K.N.J., 171 Wn.2d 568, 257 P.3d 522 (2011)
In re J.M.W., 199 Wn.2d 837, 514 P.3d 186 (2022)30
Matter of Dependency of Z.J.G., 196 Wn.2d 152, 471
P.3d 853 (2020)26
Matter of G.J.A., 197 Wn.2d 868, 489 P.3d 631 (2021)30
Statutes
25 U.S.C. §1903
25 U.S.C. § 1912
RCW 10.01.020
RCW 13.34.070passim
RCW 13.38.11024, 25
RCW 13.38.13030, 31
RCW 4.28.080
Rules
CR 4(c)
CR 4(c)
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1 RAP 18.13A, 1 Washington Court of Appeals Decisions
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1 RAP 18.13A, 1 Washington Court of Appeals Decisions Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1 RAP 18.13A, 1 Washington Court of Appeals Decisions Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441 (2008 18
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1 RAP 18.13A, 1 Washington Court of Appeals Decisions Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441 (2008 18 Crouch v. Friedman, 51 Wn. App. 731, 754 P.2d 1299
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1 RAP 18.13A, 1 Washington Court of Appeals Decisions Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441 (2008 18
CR 4(c) 18, 20 RAP 13.3(e) 1 RAP 13.4(b) passim RAP 13.5A 1 RAP 18.13 1 RAP 18.13A, 1 Washington Court of Appeals Decisions Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441 (2008 18 Crouch v. Friedman, 51 Wn. App. 731, 754 P.2d 1299

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mr. W., the father of G.M.W, requests review by this Court of the published Court of Appeals decision affirming the default dependency order under RAP 18.13A, 13.3(e), RAP 13.4(b)(3), and 13.5A.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

G.M.W., a native child, was removed from his father, Mr. W., placed into foster care, and declared dependent. G.M.W.'s removal from his father's care occurred in Mr. W.'s absence, without the court appointing Mr. W. an attorney, and without the Department personally providing Mr. W. with a copy of the dependency petition and notice of his rights.

Two judges in this fractured, published decision ruled the Department satisfied the requirement of personal service by leaving a copy of Mr. W.'s dependency petition with G.M.W.'s mother, Ms. A.,

who was also a named party to the dependency, even though the service statute, RCW 13.34.070(9), prohibits personal service by a person who is a "party to the proceedings."

The dissenting judge found the majority's decision was contrary to the plain language of the service statutes. It unfairly undercut the statute's efficacy and purpose by allowing one parent to control the other parent's notice of their legal rights to their child under often dysfunctional, contentious circumstances between parents with separate, often divergent legal interests. Dissent at 9.

The Court of Appeals condoned the court's entry of a default order of dependency without appointing Mr. W. an attorney. Op. at 27. The Court held that Mr. W. had to appear and request counsel, even though ICWA and WIWCA mandate the appointment of

counsel to indigent parents of native children, without the additional requirements imposed by the Court of Appeals. *Id*.

The two-judge majority further diluted ICWA and WIWCA's protections when it determined the Department met the active efforts requirement through its minimal efforts to engage the mother and not Mr. W., and based on evidence that occurred after the hearing.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. RCW 13.34.070(8) and (9) require a parent be personally served a copy of the summons by a person who is not a party to the proceeding and do not authorize "substitute service." A two-judge majority concluded substitute service as provided in the general service statute, RCW 4.28.080(16), is permitted in a dependency, and that the other parent who is also a

party to the proceeding may receive the other parent's legal documents for them.

This Court should accept review. The majority's decision is contrary to the plain language of the service statutes and case law interpreting them, each prohibiting service by a party to the proceeding. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). This issue is also a matter of substantial public interest and constitutional concern. By allowing one parent to serve as a gatekeeper of information for the other parent in a dependency proceeding when they are a party to the litigation with independent, divergent legal interests, the majority undercuts a parent's foundational right to notice of their legal rights to their child. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

2. WIWCA and ICWA require the court to appoint counsel for indigent parents. These statutes do not require the parent to appear personally or make a

formal request for the court to appoint counsel. Still, the Court of Appeals read these additional requirements into ICWA and WIWCA based on unrelated state court statutes.

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals misconstrues ICWA and WICWA to create barriers to the appointment of counsel, contrary to the plain language of the statutes and this Court's requirement that ICWA and WIWCA be construed in favor of the native parent. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(4).

3. ICWA and WIWCA require the Department to demonstrate it employed affirmative, thorough, and timely efforts to engage a parent in services throughout the dependency proceeding. The two-judge majority found the Department met the active efforts requirement based on evidence that was not before the court when it made its finding and based on minimal

efforts the Department made to engage the mother, but not Mr. W. This Court should accept review because the two judge's majority decision is contrary to this Court's case law defining active efforts. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The court places G.M.W., a native child, into foster care in Mr. W.'s absence and without appointing him an attorney.

Mr. W. and Ms. A. are enrolled members of the Upper Skagit Tribe. 2/16/21 RP 35; CP 135. Ms. A. gave birth to their child, G.M.W. on January 7, 2021. CP 1. Ms. A. and Mr. W. were unhoused when G.M.W. was born. CP 13. G.M.W. was born affected by Ms. A.'s drug use during her pregnancy. CP 3; 2/16/21 RP 38. The Department was notified of the drug use when G.M.W. was born. CP 3; 2/16/21 RP 38. Ms. A. had a history of prior dependencies with the Department. CP 15. Mr. W., G.M.W.'s father, did not. CP 15.

The Department filed a motion to take G.M.W. into custody and a dependency petition regarding Mr. W. and Ms. A. on January 15, 2021. CP 1, 12; 1/19/21 RP 3. The court signed the pickup order that same day. CP 18. The court scheduled a shelter care hearing for January 19, 2021. CP 19.

The Department's attorney, social worker, courtappointed guardian ad litem for the child, and a tribal representative were all at the shelter care hearing. CP 24; 26. The social worker, Nicole Patterson, informed the court that the parents had not been served with notice of the hearing. 1/19/21 RP 3; CP 24. Though she had sent the mother and father a Facebook message about it, there was no indication Mr. W. had received that message. 1/19/21 RP 3.

The court determined the Federal and
Washington State Indian Child Welfare Acts applied.

CP 27. The Department asked for the shelter care order to be entered in Mr. W.'s absence, noting "the parents have had some engagement but overall lack of engagement." 1/19/21 RP 5.

The court noted Mr. W. had not been appointed an attorney and did not appoint him one. 1/19/21 RP 3; CP 26. The court appointed a guardian ad litem for G.M.W. CP 31-32.

The Department maintained, and the court agreed, that this was an "emergency hearing," and the Department was not required to make "active efforts." 1/19/21 RP 6. The trial court entered the default shelter care order for the mother and father the next day, January 20, 2021. CP 25.

2. The Department social worker leaves a copy of the dependency petition with G.M.W.'s mother but not Mr. W.

After the shelter care hearing on January 19, Ms. Patterson filed a return of service with the court stating she "served" Mr. W. with the dependency petition, notice, summons, and order, and the pickup motion and order. CP 40.

Ms. Patterson did not claim she delivered the documents personally to Mr. W. Instead, she stated she served Mr. W. "by delivery to [Ms. A.]," a "person of suitable age and discretion residing at the respondent's usual abode." CP 40-41. The social worker wrote on the return of service that she "hand delivered the attached documents to [Ms. A.] on 1/19/21 after attempting to serve [Mr. W.] in person." CP 41. The social worker did not say what steps she took to serve Mr. W. personally. CP 41.

The social worker also wrote in the affidavit that Ms. A. informed her she would see Mr. W. later that evening and "she would give [Mr. W.] his copy of the documents." CP 41.

The notice and summons the Department left with Ms. A. had instructions about how to seek the appointment of counsel and dates and times for future fact-finding hearings. CP 43. Without referencing a specific hearing, the notice stated, "If you do not appear the *court may enter an order in your absence*" establishing dependency. CP 43.

A case conference hearing was held on February 4, 2021. CP 76. Mr. W. and Ms. A. appeared by phone. CP 76.

3. Mr. W. does not appear at the dependency factfinding, and the Department moves for and is granted a default judgment.

The court held the dependency fact-finding hearing on February 16, 2021. CP 91. The Department's attorney, the Upper Skagit Tribe's representative, and the guardian ad litem for G.M.W. were all present. 2/16/21 RP 28. Mr. W. was not present, and he was not represented by counsel. RP 28-29; CP 92. The Department claimed Mr. W. was "properly served" with the notice and summons through personal service and asked the court to enter a default dependency order in his absence. 2/16/21 RP 28; CP 87.

The Department called Ms. Patterson "to establish the jurisdictional facts." 2/16/21 RP 33. Ms. Patterson claimed to have made "multiple attempts" to contact Mr. W. through Facebook, calling, and texting.

2/16/21 RP 36. She said she tried to meet with Mr. W. in person and was able to talk with him during the case conference. 2/16/21 RP 36. Ms. Patterson also "sent out letters to all the different possible addresses that have come up for them." 2/16/21 RP 36.

Ms. Patterson said she told the parents they "have a right to an attorney" and gave them the information about accessing an attorney at a case planning meeting, after their child was removed from them and placed into foster care. 2/16/21 RP 37.

However, Ms. Patterson did not note this in the court report from the case planning meeting. CP 78-85.

The Department's allegations of Mr. W.'s deficiencies were "[a]ctive substance abuse" that affected the child, "mental health," and "the need for age-appropriate parenting instruction." 2/16/21 RP 38.

Ms. Patterson recommended G.M.W. stay in the licensed tribal foster care where the court had placed him. RP 2/16/21 RP 40.

Based on Ms. Patterson's testimony, the court found "the parties have established sufficient testimony for dependency" and found G.M.W. dependent under RCW 13.34.030(6)(c). CP 93.

The court held the dispositional hearing on March 2, 2021. The Department's attorney, the child's guardian ad litem, the tribal representative, Ms.

Patterson, and her supervisor were all present. 3/2/21

RP 48. The court inquired: "I don't have any parents' attorneys listed; are the parents not represented at this point?" 3/2/21 RP 48. The Department's attorney responded, "That is correct, Your Honor." 3/2/21 RP 48.

The court checked the box in the disposition order indicating the Department made active efforts, even

though the tribal representative did not file their expert witness declaration until ten days after the court entered the disposition order. CP 121, 139.

4. Four months into the dependency, Mr. W. is finally appointed counsel and moves to vacate the default dependency order for improper service, which the court denies.

Mr. W. was finally appointed counsel who appeared on his behalf in May 2021. CP 207. Mr. W.'s counsel moved to set aside the default order of dependency for improper service. CP 236.

Mr. W. argued that because Ms. A. was a party to the litigation, she was prohibited from serving Mr. W. with the notice and summons the Department social worker left with her. CP 240; 7/6/21 RP 5. The tribal

¹ He also argued the Department did not establish Ms. A.'s grandmother's house was Mr. W.'s "usual place of abode." *Id*.

representative took no position on Mr. W.'s motion to vacate the default order. 7/6/21 RP 11.

The court ruled Ms. A. could serve Mr. W. because they were not "contrary" parties, and the court found Ms. A.'s claim that she would see Mr. W. later was an adequate assurance that the Department's notice and summons would reach Mr. W. 7/6/21 RP 22. The court denied Mr. W.'s motion to vacate the default dependency order. 7/6/21 RP 22; CP 25.

5. The Court of Appeals issues a fractured, published decision that disagrees about personal service requirements in a dependency and active efforts under ICWA and WIWCA.

Two Court of Appeals judges found the Department accomplished personal service for Mr. W. by leaving a copy of the summons with G.M.W.'s mother, Ms. A. Op. at 21. The two-judge majority also interpreted RCW 13.34.070(8)'s requirement that a

parent be personally served to allow for substitute service as provided for by RCW 4.28.080(16). Op. at 20.

Despite the service statute's prohibition on one party serving another, the majority was concerned that: "hand-delivery of a summons to a parent in a dependency case would make service more difficult and time-consuming" and would "undermine . . . the legislative goal of resolving these cases quickly." Op. at 21.

Judge Coburn dissented. She held that dependency statutes do not permit substitute service instead of personal service and plainly prohibit one person from serving the other. Dissent at 9. She emphasized the need for "expediency" or concerns about a child's health and safety should not guide a court's interpretation of a statute. Dissent at 4.

As Judge Coburn explained, the rule against allowing one parent to serve the other is in place for important reasons. Child dependencies often involve "dysfunctional or challenging home settings," which means a parent may be an unreliable or interested party who should not be a gatekeeper for the other parent's notice about their rights to their child. Dissent at 8.

The dissenting judge also disagreed with the majority's finding that the Department met the active efforts requirements of ICWA and WIWCA. Dissent at 13-16. The dissent particularly disagreed with the majority's reliance on the Department's efforts made *after* it entered the default dependency order. *Id*.

6. The Court of Appeals also interprets ICWA and WIWCA to impose barriers to the appointment of counsel that the statute's plain language does not require.

Though indigent, the court did not appoint counsel for Mr. W. until four months after it entered the dependency order, placed G.M.W. into foster care, and entered a disposition order. CP 207. The Court of Appeals found no error with this procedure, interpreting ICWA and WIWCA to require a parent to appear and prove indigency based on other state statutes, even though ICWA and WIWCA require no such thing. Op. at 28-29.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The majority decision upends the requirements of the service statutes by allowing one parent to control the other parent's notice about their legal rights to their child.
 - a. The majority's opinion conflicts with the service statutes, court rules, and case law, all of which prohibit one party from serving the other.

RCW 13.34.070(9) explicitly prohibits one parent from serving another in a State's dependency action.

Courts have incorporated this same prohibition into the civil service statute, RCW 4.28.080(16), through CR 4(c). See, e.g., Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 112, 182 P.3d 441 (2008) (CR 4(c) "prohibits only a party to the action from serving process.").

Indeed, Washington "has long required service of process to be made by a person other than a plaintiff." *Crouch v. Friedman*, 51 Wn. App. 731, 733, 754 P.2d 1299 (1988). The "reason for the rule disqualifying

parties to the suit from making service of process is that to place parties in an action who stand to gain or lose thereby in a position to create an issue involving process would needlessly and substantially increase the burdens of the courts." *Id.* at 734.

The two-judge majority abandoned these principles to find that in a dependency, a parent who is a party to the proceeding may *accept* the notice and summons for another parent. Op. at 25. Allowing a parent to *accept* information for the other parent but barring them from *delivering* it is a distinction without a difference that creates the same problem RCW 13.34.070(9) and Cr 4(c)'s prohibition on service by another party is intended to address. "Each parent is entitled to mount a separate defense" against a dependency allegation. *In re Dependency of K.N.J.*, 171 Wn.2d 568, 581 fn. 8, 257 P.3d 522 (2011). Because

they have independent legal interests, one parent should not be made the conduit for critical legal information for the other parent. This procedure allows a party with an interest to control the information for the other parent, which is exactly why CR 4(c) and RCW 13.34.070(9) prohibit service by "a party to the proceedings."

As Judge Coburn correctly found in her dissent, the majority's absurd and meaningless distinction ignores the point of substitute service, which substitutes an appropriate person to serve another, but is subject to strict limitations, including barring a party to the proceedings from serving the other party. Dissent at 9. Judge Coburn emphasized that this rule is in place for important reasons. Child dependencies often involve "dysfunctional or challenging home settings" for the parents, making them unreliable and

inappropriate messengers for the Department. Dissent at 8.

In Mr. W.'s case, as in many dependency cases, allegations of Ms. A.'s active drug use made her an unsuitable person to relay critical legal documents to Mr. W. *Id.* at 8-9. And, of course, any parent, including Ms. A., may have myriad reasons for not wanting the other parent to exercise their legal rights to their child independently.

The Court of Appeals' majority guts the requirements of the service statutes in child dependency cases, depriving parents of notice in the interest of expediency, contrary to the plain language of the service statutes. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

b. The majority also wrongly construes the dependency statute's requirement of "personal service" to include "substitute service."

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