FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/25/2023 11:12 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101582-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Dependency of G.M.W.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Lauren Danskine Assistant Attorney General WSBA #50151 3501 Colby Avenue, Suite 200 Everett, WA 98201 425-257-2174 OID: 91145

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly determined the father was properly served and that the rights of the Native family were adequately protected where DCYF made active efforts and the father's right to court-appointed counsel, if indigent, was unimpeded. This opinion does not conflict with the decisions of this Court or the lower court's own precedent. The father raises no issues of constitutional magnitude or of substantial public interest to warrant review. Because he fails to meet his burden under RAP 13.4, this Court should deny review.

A. The Father was Properly Served

The Court of Appeals correctly found the DCYF caseworker properly served the father via substitute personal service when she left a copy of the notice and summons at his place of usual abode with an adult of suitable age and discretion.

1. RCW 4.28.080 and RCW 13.34.070 permit substitute personal service

RCW 4.28.080 and RCW 13.34.070 outline the requirements for effective service of process. The former

governs civil matters generally and the latter sets forth additional parameters for service in dependency cases. These statutes can and should be read in harmony to allow substitute personal service in dependency cases.

RCW 4.28.080 sets forth various requirements to effectuate personal service in civil cases, but does not specifically address personal service in dependency actions. RCW 4.28.080(16) is a catch-all provision that sets forth the requirements for personal service in "all other cases" not covered in the preceding provisions, which provide requirements for service in specific situations. RCW 4.28.080(16) provides that service shall be made "to the defendant personally or by *leaving a copy of the summons at the house of his or her usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein.*" RCW 4.28.080(16) (emphasis added).

Decades after it enacted the general service statute, the Legislature enacted RCW 13.34.070(8), (9). These provisions are specific to service in dependency proceedings and provide

additional parameters due to the unique nature of these cases. RCW 13.34.070(8) requires parties to be served "personally as soon as possible following the filing of the petition." Crucially, nothing in RCW 13.34.070 limits the methods of personal service to only hand-to-hand delivery, as the father suggests. Mot. at 24. Thus, substitute personal service, at the party's usual place of abode under RCW 4.28.080(16) is a valid means of service in dependency cases.

As both statutes relate to the same subject matter – service of process to obtain personal jurisdiction over a party – they should be construed harmoniously if possible. *Hallauer v. Spectrum Pros., Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 126, 146, 18 P.3d 540 (2001). Here, there is no conflict in these statutes, and "the two can be easily harmonized." *G.M.W.*, 519 P.3d at 284. Had the Legislature intended to limit personal service in dependency cases to hand-to-hand service, it could have done so, particularly where the Legislature imposed other obligations on service in dependency cases, including requiring certified mail. RCW

13.34.070(8). As written, RCW 13.34.070(8) requires personal service, which includes substitute personal service. No conflict exists between these provisions.

2. The DCYF caseworker served the father via substitute personal service

Here, the DCYF caseworker – not the mother – served the father by substitute personal service by leaving the summons at his place of usual abode. The father fails to show service was improper.

Substitute personal service requires the petitioner to leave a copy of the petition at the defendant's "usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein." RCW 4.28.080(16). The term "usual abode" means "such center of one's domestic activity that service left with a family member is reasonably calculated to come to one's attention within the statutory period for [the] defendant to appear." *Northwick v. Long*, 192 Wn. App. 256, 262, 364 P.3d 1067 (2015).

Ms. Patterson properly concluded the Hulbush address was the father's usual abode based on the mother's assertion at

the time of service that she would see him later and would deliver the documents to him, and the Tribe's representation that this was his residential address on record.³ 07/06/21RP 10.

Moreover, Ms. Patterson, and not the mother, effectuated service. Mot. at 20. Substitute personal service is effective once the notice and summons is provided to a person of suitable age and discretion at the party's usual place of abode. RCW 4.28.080. Substitute personal service does not require the suitable person⁴ physically deliver the documents to the party. Much like service via mail, service is complete upon mailing, not upon receipt, and is effectuated by the person depositing the mail in the mailbox, not the postal worker delivering it to the recipient. *Jones v. Stebbins*, 122 Wn.2d 471, 476, 860 P.2d 1009 (1993). As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, service here was not

³ Notably, the father called in to a meeting held by DCYF after service occurred. 02/16/21RP 36. That meeting was listed in the summons; it is reasonable to assume he was aware of the meeting because he received the served documents.

⁴ The Legislature did not exclude parties from the category of allowable "persons."

effectuated by second-hand service of the summons by the mother, which would have been prohibited by RCW 13.34.070. *G.M.W.*, 519 P.3d at 285. Rather, Ms. Patterson properly served the father at his usual place of abode.⁵

The Court of Appeals determined service was proper after a careful statutory analysis, consistent with precedent interpreting the service statutes. This Court's review is not warranted.

B. The Court Appointed the Father Counsel in Accordance with ICWA and WICWA

ICWA and WICWA provide a right to counsel for indigent parents of Indian children, but do not require a court to automatically impose court-appointed counsel upon a Native parent who has not requested counsel. The father's interpretation is not supported by the statutes' plain language or their accompanying regulations and is impractical in application. The

⁵ Below, the father argued the Hulbush address was not his usual place of abode, but has abandoned that argument here.

father was repeatedly notified of his right to counsel, and the court appointed counsel for him upon his first appearance.

1. ICWA and WICWA provide a right to counsel for indigent parents

ICWA provides that "[i]n any case in which the court determines indigence, the parent ... shall have the right to court-appointed counsel in any removal, placement, or termination proceeding." 25 U.S.C. § 1912(b). Similarly, WICWA provides that "[i]n any child custody proceeding under this chapter in which the court determines the Indian child's parent ... is indigent, the parent or Indian custodian shall have the right to court-appointed counsel." RCW 13.38.110.

2. Neither Act requires the automatic appointment of counsel

While both Acts provide a right to counsel, this right must be executed by the parent. The father's argument for automatic appointment of counsel is problematic for four reasons.

First, the father's proposed interpretation disregards the statutes' unambiguous language that indigence is a pre-requisite

for court-appointed counsel. He asserts the trial court had sufficient evidence before it to make a finding of indigence and appoint an attorney based on the allegations within DCYF's petition. Mot. at 29. But this rests on the contention that a yet-tobe-proven allegation in DCYF's petition that the father was homeless should be considered dispositive proof of indigence. As the Court of Appeals noted, statutes requiring the appointment of counsel for indigent parties routinely require a screening for indigence. G.M.W., 519 P.3d at 287. This does not "impose additional requirements" upon parents of Indian children. Mot. at 27. Rather, ICWA and WICWA limit the availability of court-appointed counsel to indigent parents, a limitation both the trial and appellate courts recognized. The father fails to articulate why this statutorily-mandated prerequisite should be disregarded.

Second, the father conflates his right to counsel with an obligation that the court automatically appoint counsel. Neither ICWA nor WICWA contain such a requirement, nor do the

Bureau of Indian Affairs' (BIA's) regulations governing the administration of ICWA. Instead, the regulations require that the parent be notified by the petitioner of their right to counsel if indigent, and then, should the parent appear, by the court. 25 C.F.R. § 23.111(d)(6)(iv), (g) . Notice of the right to counsel is required; automatic appointment of counsel is not. If automatic appointment were required, notice of the right would be meaningless and superfluous. *Spokane Cnty. v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 192 Wn.2d 453, 458, 430 P.3d 655 (2018) (statutes should be construed to give all language effect).

The father's reliance on the Montana Supreme Court's decision in *Matter of M.E.M.*, 195 Mont. 329, 635 P.2d 1313 (1981), is similarly misplaced. Not only was this decision issued prior to the adoption of the BIA's regulations, which do not endorse its view, but it is also factually distinguishable. In *M.E.M.*, the court overturned a judgment terminating the parental rights of a developmentally-disabled Standing Rock Sioux mother who did not appear for the initial hearings on termination.

Id. at 329. The court "liberally interpret[ed]" the ICWA provision guaranteeing a right to counsel, "given the particular intellectual capacities of this mother," and found the trial court erred in failing to appoint counsel without a request from the mother. *Id.* at 335. Here, the trial court was faced with a parent who had not appeared in court at all and had not otherwise sought representation. *M.E.M.* is not persuasive in deciding the issue before this Court.

Third, the father's proposed approach does not consider whether an Indian parent would choose to request courtappointed counsel; rather, it presumes—without regard to the parent's specific wishes—that he would. ICWA and WICWA contain no mandate for appointed counsel without any consideration of the parents' self-determination and preference. Contrary to the father's assertions, the court's holding below does not require "a specific, formal request," but rather some indication that the parent wishes to invoke his right to counsel. Mot. at 27.

Finally, if a court automatically appointed an attorney to represent a parent who has not appeared, the attorney would be faced with ethical issues regarding how to advocate for their client without direction. RPC 1.2(a) and RPC 1.4 direct that a lawyer shall "abide by a client's decisions concerning objectives of representation and . . . shall consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued." As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, counsel would not know "if the father wanted to waive any purported defects in personal service, to contest shelter care, to challenge the infant's status as a dependent, to have any say in placement, or to visit the infant." G.M.W., 519 P.3d at 287. Appointing unrequested and state-funded counsel including those who have never had opportunity to meet or talk with a parent—may lead to the trial court and other parties having an incorrect sense that an absent parent's positions are known and understood.

3. The trial court did not infringe upon the father's right to counsel if indigent

DCYF notified the father of his right to counsel and how to exercise it on multiple occasions prior to counsel's appointment at his first appearance before the trial court. This notice and the trial court's action in accordance with the plain language of ICWA and WICWA adequately protected the rights afforded to this Native family.

The father was provided notice of his right to appointed counsel if indigent and the steps he needed to take to invoke that right on multiple occasions: in the notice and summons accompanying the dependency petition he was served with; in the ICWA notice he was mailed; and at the case conference he attended. 02/16/21RP 37, CP 43, 104-112.

Nonetheless, the father neither appeared nor requested counsel until several months after the dependency petition was filed. CP 204. Immediately following his first appearance, he was appointed counsel. CP 207-209.

The father's right to counsel was not infringed upon in any way. He was provided notice of the right and, once he chose to exercise it, he was appointed an attorney. Review of a decision consistent with the plain language of ICWA and WICWA is unnecessary.

C. As required by ICWA and WICWA, DCYF made active efforts to prevent the breakup of the family

It is undisputed that DCYF must begin making active efforts from the time it has reason to know a child is or may be an Indian child. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(d); RCW 13.38.040(1)(a). This is crucial to ICWA and WICWA's purposes in remedying the historic destruction of Native families while ensuring the safety of Native children. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(d); RCW 13.38.040(1)(a); *In re of Dependency of Z.J.G.*, 196 Wn.2d 152, 157, 471 P.3d 853, 856 (2020).

Active efforts are "affirmative, active, thorough, and timely efforts intended primarily to maintain or reunite an Indian child with his or her family." 25 C.F.R. § 23.2. Examples include identifying services and helping the parent overcome barriers,

collaborating with the Tribe, searching for family placement options, keeping siblings together, and supporting parental visits. *Id.* Similarly, WICWA requires DCYF to actively work with the parent to engage them in remedial services to prevent the breakup of the family. RCW 13.38.040(1)(a).

Whether active efforts are sufficient to satisfy ICWA and WICWA is a mixed question of law and fact. *In re Dependency of G.J.A.*, 197 Wn.2d 868, 887, 489 P.3d 631, 641 (2021). Here, the Court of Appeals reviewed the underlying findings for substantial evidence, and reviewed de novo whether those findings satisfied ICWA and WICWA. *G.M.W.*, 519 P.3d at 289. Having found that DCYF made active efforts, it affirmed. No action is required by this Court.

1. DCYF made thorough, timely, diligent efforts prior to the disposition hearing

From the beginning of this case, DCYF repeatedly attempted to engage the parents to prevent the breakup of the Indian family, while also ensuring G.M.W.'s placement in a Tribal foster home, coordinating closely with G.M.W.'s Tribe,

and nurturing the important parent-child connection by making visitation available to the family. These efforts, though ultimately unsuccessful, met the threshold required under state and federal law.

At the time of G.M.W.'s removal, two of his older siblings were subject to dependency proceedings where the mother was not making progress. CP 3-4. The court report filed by Ms. Patterson for G.M.W.'s disposition hearing and the uncontroverted allegations in the dependency petition establish DCYF had been working to remedy the mother's parental deficiencies for years. CP 1-8, 71-86.

Following G.M.W.'s birth, DCYF made consistent efforts to engage the parents. Ms. Patterson went to the hospital to meet with the family, but neither parent was present. CP 7. She scheduled a meeting, but neither parent attended. CP 78. She made multiple attempts to contact the father, through calls, texts, and Facebook. 02/16/21RP 36. She attempted to meet with the father in person, sent letters to potential addresses, visited the

Hulbush address, and drove around looking for the parents. 02/16/21RP 36.

Ms. Patterson was successful in reaching the father only once in the weeks prior to the disposition hearing, at the case conference. 02/16/21RP 36. There, the father reported not having a phone, so Ms. Patterson immediately requested one for him. CP 78. The father indicated he could be reached through the mother's phone, for which DCYF had previously provided minutes. CP 5, 78. Active efforts do not require that DCYF be successful in reaching a parent, only that it make active, thorough, timely, and diligent efforts to do so. Mot. at 33. The record supports such a finding here.

Further, daily visitation was available to the father while G.M.W. was in the hospital, but he visited only twice. 02/16/21RP 40. A professional visit supervisor was unable to reach the parents to establish visitation. 02/16/21RP 41.

Ms. Patterson worked closely with G.M.W.'s Tribe, beginning the day after his birth. CP 3. DCYF staff consulted the

Tribe on a monthly basis in an attempt to locate the parents and engage them. CP 80. G.M.W.'s foster family were members of his Tribe. 02/16/21RP 40.

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